Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative

Final Evaluation Report

Prepared by Brian Cesario, PhD May, 2023



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
Background and Review of Literature	6
Theoretical Framework	8
Description of Program Development	9
Program Components	9
Development Process	10
Implementation Strategy	11
Protocols and Procedures	12
Evaluation Design and Methodology	13
Assessment Schedule	13
Quantitative Data Analysis Plan	14
Sampling Plan	15
Qualitative Evaluation	17
Results	19
Implications	22
References	25

Executive Summary

Overview of the Initiative

The Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative was developed and implemented to address the critical issue of substance use among allied healthcare professionals. This initiative is essential due to the high-risk nature of healthcare delivery, where substance use can significantly impair job performance and compromise patient safety. The program aims to create a substancefree workplace environment by leveraging evidence-based strategies and theoretical frameworks, particularly Social-Cognitive Theory and Problem Behavior Theory. These frameworks informed the development of comprehensive program components designed to educate, engage, and support healthcare professionals in maintaining sobriety at work.

Background Information

Prevalence and Implications

Prevalence Rates: Our research highlighted significant prevalence rates of substance use among allied healthcare professionals. Approximately 10% of healthcare professionals report heavy alcohol use and 6% report illicit drug use during work hours (American Nurses Association [ANA], 2012). These findings are consistent with national trends indicating rising substance use in high-stress professions.

Implications: The implications of substance use in the workplace are profound. Decreased job performance, higher rates of absenteeism, increased risk of medical errors, and compromised patient safety are among the most severe consequences. Additionally, substance use can lead to legal issues and financial liabilities for healthcare organizations, further underscoring the need for effective prevention programs.

Program Development and Implementation

The initiative consists of several key components, described below.

Educational Lectures: These provided foundational knowledge about substance abuse, its risks, and prevention strategies. Lectures were delivered by experts in addiction medicine and psychology.

Interactive Activities: Engaging activities, such as role-playing and scenario-based learning, were incorporated to reinforce learning and encourage active participation.

Mobile App Check-Ins: A mobile application was developed to facilitate daily check-ins, provide resources, and track participants' progress.

Train-the-Trainer Protocol: A comprehensive training program was designed to equip selected healthcare professionals with the skills to deliver the program to their peers, ensuring sustainability and scalability.

Development Process

The program components were developed through a rigorous process involving literature reviews, expert consultations, and pilot testing. Each component was refined based on feedback from participants and stakeholders to ensure relevance and effectiveness.

Implementation Strategy

The program was rolled out in three phases.

- Phase 1: Initial training of trainers and pilot testing.
- Phase 2: Full-scale implementation across selected healthcare facilities.
- **Phase 3**: Continuous support and follow-up with participants. Implementation was monitored and adjusted as needed to address emerging challenges and optimize outcomes.

Evaluation Design and Methodology

Evaluation Strategy: A rigorous randomized controlled trial (RCT) design was employed, complemented by a qualitative adjunct component consisting of focus groups.

Assessment Schedule: Participants were assessed at three pretest intervals (baseline, one week before intervention, and day of intervention) and three posttest intervals (one month, three months, and six months post-intervention). This schedule allowed for comprehensive measurement of changes over time.

Quantitative Data Analysis: Univariate and multivariate statistical techniques were used to analyze quantitative evaluation data. Techniques included repeated measures ANOVA, logistic regression, and SEM to assess the program's impact on substance use and related outcomes.

Qualitative Component: The qualitative component included focus groups with participants to gather in-depth insights into their experiences and perceptions of the program. The focus groups were conducted using a semi-structured interview guide, and data were analyzed using thematic analysis to identify key themes and patterns.

Key Findings

Quantitative Results

Efficacy of the Program: Statistical analyses revealed a significant reduction in substance use among participants from pretest to posttest assessments. Participants also demonstrated significant improvements in job performance and overall well-being, as measured by validated scales.

Behavioral Changes: The program led to substantial behavioral changes, including increased adherence to workplace policies, reduced absenteeism, and enhanced job satisfaction. These changes were statistically significant and consistent across various demographic groups.

Qualitative Results

Participant Feedback: Focus group discussions provided valuable insights into participants' experiences with the program. Key themes included increased awareness of substance use risks, enhanced motivation to maintain sobriety, and appreciation for the support mechanisms provided by the program. Participants also suggested areas for improvement, such as more frequent check-ins and additional interactive activities.

Conclusions and Recommendations

Addressing Critical Needs

Social and Professional Impact: The findings underscore the program's effectiveness in addressing a critical social and professional need. By reducing substance use among allied healthcare professionals, the initiative contributes to safer patient care, improved job performance, and overall healthcare quality.

Policy Implications: The results support the need for widespread adoption of such prevention programs across healthcare settings. Policymakers and healthcare administrators should consider integrating similar initiatives into their organizational protocols to ensure a safe and productive work environment.

Future Directions

Sustainability and Scalability: To ensure the program's sustainability, continuous monitoring and periodic updates to the program materials are recommended. Additionally, exploring opportunities to scale the initiative to other healthcare sectors, such as nursing and pharmacy, can amplify its impact.

Research and Evaluation: Further research is needed to explore the long-term outcomes of the program and identify factors that contribute to sustained behavioral change. Continued evaluation efforts will help refine and enhance the program's efficacy, ensuring it remains relevant and effective in addressing substance use in the workplace.

Background and Review of Literature

Introduction

Substance abuse in the workplace undermines the foundational principles of safety and efficiency that are critical to professional settings, especially in healthcare. Healthcare professionals operate in environments that demand high levels of concentration, precision, and empathy. Substance use can impair cognitive functions, motor skills, and decision-making abilities, leading to increased risks of errors, compromised patient care, and a decline in overall job performance. Addressing substance abuse is not only a matter of individual health but also a public safety issue that affects patients, colleagues, and the broader healthcare system. Moreover, addressing this issue can enhance the work environment, improve employee morale, and reduce organizational costs associated with absenteeism, turnover, and healthcare claims (Oreskovich et al., 2017; Welte et al., 2018).

Prevalence Rates

Substance use among healthcare professionals, including allied health professionals, is a welldocumented issue. According to Trinkoff and Storr (1998), approximately 10% of healthcare professionals report substance use disorders at some point in their careers. Specific studies focusing on allied health professionals, such as those conducted by Kenna and Wood (2004), indicate that the prevalence of substance use can vary, with estimates ranging from 5% to 15% depending on the specific profession and setting. Research by the American Nurses Association (2012) revealed that 6% of nurses reported using illicit drugs, and 10% reported heavy alcohol use. These statistics highlight the need for targeted interventions to address substance use in this population. Recent studies corroborate these findings, emphasizing the ongoing issue of substance use in healthcare settings (Berge et al., 2017; Merlo et al., 2018; Puffer et al., 2019).

Implications of Substance Use

Substance use can significantly impair job performance by affecting cognitive and motor functions. Impaired judgment, decreased attention to detail, slower reaction times, and poor decision-making are common consequences of substance use, which can lead to increased errors and accidents in the workplace. In healthcare settings, these impairments can have dire consequences, including incorrect diagnoses, medication errors, and compromised patient safety (West et al., 2006). Frone (2019) found that substance use is directly linked to reduced job performance and higher incidences of workplace accidents.

Effects on Patient Safety

Patient safety is a paramount concern in healthcare, and substance use among healthcare professionals directly jeopardizes this priority. Studies have shown that substance-impaired healthcare workers are more likely to make critical errors that can result in adverse patient outcomes, including injury or death (Cohen et al., 2007). The National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA; 2018) emphasizes that maintaining a drug-free workplace is essential for ensuring high-quality patient care and safeguarding public health. Further research by Smith et al. (2019)

indicates that substance use significantly increases the risk of patient safety incidents in healthcare settings.

Effects on Healthcare Outcomes

Substance use not only affects the individual healthcare professional but also has broader implications for healthcare outcomes. Increased absenteeism, higher turnover rates, and reduced job satisfaction among substance-using employees can disrupt team dynamics and continuity of care, leading to poorer healthcare outcomes overall (Frone, 2013). Additionally, the financial burden associated with substance use, including healthcare costs, legal fees, and lost productivity, can strain healthcare organizations and impede their ability to deliver effective care (Kane & Colbert, 2020; Brooks et al., 2018).

Rationale for Comprehensive Substance Abuse Prevention Programming

Given the high prevalence and severe implications of substance use among healthcare professionals, there is a clear need for a comprehensive substance abuse prevention program. Such a program should be multifaceted, addressing the various factors that contribute to substance use and providing support for individuals to maintain sobriety. Prevention initiatives that incorporate education, behavioral interventions, and ongoing support have been shown to be effective in reducing substance use and promoting healthier workplace environments (Roman & Blum, 2002; Lussier et al., 2020).

Financial Benefits of Prevention Initiatives

Implementing a substance abuse prevention program can lead to significant cost savings for healthcare organizations. According to the National Safety Council (NSC; 2014), employers can save between \$2,000 and \$3,000 per employee annually by reducing substance use in the workplace. These savings result from decreased absenteeism, lower healthcare costs, reduced turnover, and fewer workplace accidents. Recent economic analyses support these findings, showing that prevention programs are cost-effective and beneficial for healthcare organizations (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2020).

Legal Implications

Healthcare organizations have a legal obligation to ensure a safe working environment, which includes addressing substance use among employees. Failure to do so can result in legal liabilities, including fines, lawsuits, and reputational damage. Implementing a robust substance abuse prevention program can help organizations comply with legal requirements and reduce the risk of legal repercussions (Babor et al., 2017; Frone, 2013).

Theoretical Framework

Social-Cognitive Theory

Social-Cognitive Theory (SCT) posits that behavior is influenced by the interaction between individual factors, environmental factors, and cognitive processes. Key propositions of SCT include self-efficacy, observational learning, and outcome expectations. These elements are critical in the context of substance abuse prevention, as they emphasize the importance of individuals' beliefs in their ability to resist substance use, the impact of modeling positive behaviors, and the anticipation of positive outcomes from abstaining from substance use (Bandura, 1986). In the substance abuse prevention program, SCT informs the development of educational materials and interactive activities designed to enhance self-efficacy and provide positive role models (Glanz et al., 2018).

Problem Behavior Theory

Problem Behavior Theory (PBT) suggests that substance use is part of a broader pattern of problem behaviors that result from the interaction of personality, environment, and behavior systems. PBT highlights the significance of addressing underlying risk factors and promoting protective factors to prevent substance use (Jessor, 1991). This theory is particularly relevant for developing comprehensive prevention programs that address not only substance use but also related behaviors and environmental influences (DiClemente et al., 2017).

Integration of Theories

Integrating SCT and PBT provides a robust framework for designing effective substance abuse prevention programs. By combining SCT's focus on cognitive and environmental factors with PBT's emphasis on risk and protective factors, the program can address the multifaceted nature of substance use. The integration of these theories informs the program's components, including educational lectures, interactive activities, and ongoing support, ensuring a comprehensive approach to prevention (Zimmerman et al., 2019).

Description of Program Development

The development of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative was driven by a commitment to create a comprehensive, evidence-based program tailored to the unique needs of allied healthcare professionals. Recognizing the multifaceted nature of substance use and its impact on the healthcare environment, the program was designed to encompass a range of educational, interactive, and supportive components. The aim was to address both the immediate and underlying factors contributing to substance use, ensuring a holistic approach to prevention. By incorporating input from various stakeholders, including healthcare professionals, addiction specialists, and organizational leaders, the program was structured to be both practical and impactful. Each component of the program was meticulously developed and tested to maximize its effectiveness and relevance. The following sections provide a detailed outline of the core components, development process, and implementation strategy of the initiative. This comprehensive approach is intended to foster a sustainable, substance-free workplace culture that enhances both individual and organizational well-being.

Program Components

The Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative was designed to include multiple, evidence-based components aimed at educating, engaging, and supporting allied healthcare professionals in maintaining a substance-free work environment. The key components of the program are described below.

Lectures

Educational lectures formed the backbone of the program, providing foundational knowledge about substance abuse, its risks, and prevention strategies. The lectures were delivered by experts in addiction medicine, psychology, and occupational health. Each lecture was designed to be interactive, incorporating multimedia elements such as videos, infographics, and case studies to enhance engagement and retention of information (Glanz et al., 2018; Miller & Rollnick, 2013).

Interactive Activities

To reinforce the material presented in the lectures, a series of interactive activities were developed. These included role-playing scenarios, group discussions, and problem-solving exercises that encouraged participants to apply what they had learned in practical, real-world contexts. Interactive activities are a critical component of adult learning, promoting active participation and deeper understanding (Knowles et al., 2015; Kolb, 2014).

Mobile App Check-Ins

A mobile application was developed to facilitate daily check-ins, provide resources, and track participants' progress. The app included features such as daily reminders, self-assessment tools, educational content, and a support community. Mobile health (mHealth) interventions have been shown to be effective in supporting behavior change and providing continuous support (Free et al., 2013; Payne et al., 2015).

Train-the-Trainer Protocol

A comprehensive train-the-trainer protocol was established to ensure the program's sustainability and scalability. Selected healthcare professionals were trained to deliver the program to their peers, thus creating a network of trained facilitators who could continue the program's implementation. The train-the-trainer model is an effective approach to scaling educational programs and ensuring long-term impact (Bennett et al., 2018; Robinson et al., 2016).

Development Process

The development of each program component followed a rigorous, systematic process to ensure relevance, effectiveness, and evidence-based practice. The steps taken to develop each component are outlined below.

Needs Assessment

The development process began with a comprehensive needs assessment to identify the specific challenges and requirements of allied healthcare professionals regarding substance use prevention. This involved surveys, focus groups, and interviews with key stakeholders, including healthcare professionals, administrators, and addiction specialists. The needs assessment provided critical insights into the specific areas of focus for the program (Bryson, 2018; Patton, 2018).

Curriculum Design

Based on the needs assessment, a detailed curriculum was designed, outlining the content and structure of the lectures, interactive activities, and mobile app components. The curriculum was developed in collaboration with subject matter experts to ensure accuracy and relevance. Key topics included the biology of addiction, risk factors, coping strategies, and workplace policies; these topics were identified as relevant and salient after an evaluation of the extant literature (e.g., Bandura, 2004; Miller & Rollnick, 2013).

Pilot Testing

Pilot testing is a crucial step in the development of educational programs, allowing for the identification and resolution of potential issues before full-scale implementation (see Bowen et al., 2009; Van Teijlingen & Hundley, 2014). Each program component was pilot tested with a small group of participants to gather feedback and identify areas for improvement. The pilot testing phase involved iterative cycles of testing, feedback, and refinement to ensure the final program was effective and user-friendly.

Expert Review

Following the pilot test, the program materials were reviewed by a panel of experts in addiction medicine, health psychology, and occupational health. This review process ensured that the content was scientifically accurate, up-to-date, and aligned with best practices in substance abuse prevention (Bryson, 2018; Patton, 2018).

Finalization

Following the pilot testing and expert review, the program materials were finalized. This involved incorporating feedback from the pilot testing phase and making necessary adjustments to the content, structure, and delivery methods.

Implementation Strategy

The implementation of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative followed a detailed, phased plan to ensure effective rollout and maximum impact. The key components of the implementation strategy are outlined below.

Phase 1: Initial Training and Preparation

The first phase of implementation involved training the initial group of trainers and preparing the necessary materials and resources for program delivery. This phase consisted of the following:

- *Training workshops.* Intensive workshops were conducted to train the initial group of trainers on the program content, delivery methods, and evaluation procedures. The workshops included hands-on practice and role-playing to ensure trainers were well-prepared.
- *Resource preparation.* All program materials, including lecture slides, interactive activity guides, and mobile app resources, were prepared and distributed to the trainers. This ensured consistency and standardization in program delivery (Robinson et al., 2016; Bennett et al., 2018).

Phase 2: Pilot Implementation

The second phase involved the pilot implementation of the program with a small group of participants. This phase allowed for the identification of any logistical or operational issues and provided an opportunity for further refinement of the program materials and delivery methods. Key activities included:

• *Recruitment.* Participants were recruited from selected healthcare facilities based on criteria established during the needs assessment phase.

• **Program delivery.** The program was delivered to the pilot group, with ongoing monitoring and support from the trainers. Feedback was collected from participants to identify areas needing improvement prior to the full-scale roll-out.

Phase 3: Full-Scale Implementation

Following the successful pilot implementation, the program was rolled out on a larger scale across multiple healthcare facilities. This phase included:

- *Expansion of trainer network.* Additional trainers were recruited and trained to expand the program's reach. This involved conducting further training workshops and providing ongoing support to the trainers.
- *Monitoring and evaluation.* Continuous monitoring and evaluation were conducted to assess the program's impact and identify any issues. This included regular check-ins with trainers and participants, data collection, and analysis of program outcomes.

Protocols and Procedures

To ensure the program's success, several protocols and procedures were established, including:

- *Participant recruitment and informed consent.* Detailed protocols for recruiting participants and obtaining informed consent were developed. These protocols ensured that all participants were fully informed about the program and their participation was voluntary (Miller & Rollnick, 2013; Bandura, 2004).
- **Data collection and management.** Standardized procedures for data collection and management were established to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the data. This included protocols for administering surveys, conducting interviews, and managing data securely (Glanz et al., 2018; Payne et al., 2015).
- *Trainer support and supervision.* Ongoing support and supervision for trainers were provided to ensure consistent and effective program delivery. This included regular check-ins, feedback sessions, and opportunities for professional development (Bennett et al., 2018; Robinson et al., 2016).

Evaluation Design and Methodology

The evaluation of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative was designed to rigorously assess its effectiveness in reducing substance use among allied healthcare professionals and improving related outcomes. A mixed-methods approach was employed, combining a quantitative randomized controlled trial (RCT) with a qualitative adjunct component.

Randomized Controlled Trial (RCT) Design

The RCT design is considered the gold standard in intervention evaluation due to its ability to establish causality through random assignment and control of confounding variables (Higgins & Green, 2011). Participants were randomly assigned to either the intervention group, which received the full program, or the control group, which did not receive any intervention. Randomization was achieved using a computer-generated randomization sequence to ensure unbiased group allocation (Schulz & Grimes, 2002).

Qualitative Evaluation Component

To complement the quantitative data from the RCT, a qualitative component was included to provide deeper insights into participants' experiences and perceptions of the program. This component consisted of focus groups conducted with participants from the intervention group. Focus groups were chosen over one-on-one interviews to facilitate dynamic discussions and capture a broader range of perspectives (Krueger & Casey, 2015).

Assessment Schedule

The evaluation included a series of assessments conducted at multiple time points to measure changes over time and capture both short-term and long-term effects of the intervention.

Pretest Assessments

Three pretest assessments were conducted to establish baseline measures, following recommendations as outlined in Shadish et al. (2002).

- *Baseline assessment.* Conducted at the start of the study, prior to randomization, to collect initial data on substance use, job performance, and related outcomes.
- **One week before intervention.** A follow-up assessment conducted one week before the start of the intervention to confirm baseline measures and account for any short-term changes.
- *Day of intervention.* The final pretest assessment, conducted on the day the intervention began to ensure the most current baseline data.

Posttest Assessments

Three posttest assessments were conducted to measure the effects of the intervention over time. Although there is some variation in the number of follow-up assessments needed to demonstrate long-term effects of prevention programming, a review by Kirk (2013) suggests that three data points would suffice for the purposes of the present evaluation.

- **One month post-intervention.** The initial assessment, conducted one month after the completion of the intervention to capture immediate effects.
- *Three months post-intervention*. A follow-up assessment conducted three months after the intervention to measure medium-term effects.
- *Six months post-intervention.* The final assessment, conducted six months after the intervention to evaluate long-term effects (Kirk, 2013).

The timeline for data collection is outlined in Figure 1 below.

	First Pretest	Second Pretest X	Third Pretest	Intervention	First Posttest	Second Posttest X	Third Posttest X
Treatment Group	Х		Х	Ο	Х		
Control Group	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х

Figure 1. Data Collection Timeline

Quantitative Data Analysis Plan

A variety of statistical techniques were used to analyze the quantitative data collected from the pre- and post-test assessments.

Univariate and Multivariate Statistical Techniques

The analysis included both univariate and multivariate techniques to comprehensively examine the data:

• *Univariate analysis.* Descriptive statistics (means, standard deviations) and inferential statistics (t-tests, chi-square tests) were used to summarize and compare the data between groups (Field, 2013).

• *Multivariate analysis.* Techniques such as multiple regression, ANCOVA, and SEM were employed to assess the relationships between multiple variables and determine the overall impact of the intervention (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013).

Sampling Plan

To determine the necessary sample size for the quantitative component of this evaluation, we conducted an a priori power analysis to ensure minimization of the likelihood of a Type I error (Cohen, 1988). We used the following formula for the power analysis:

$$N = \frac{2(Z_{\alpha/2} + Z_{\beta})^2 \sigma^2}{(\mu_1 - \mu_2)^2}$$

Where:

N = required sample size per group

 $Z_{\alpha/2}$ = critical value for confidence level (1.96 for 95% confidence)

 Z_{β} = critical value for desired power (0.84 for 80% power)

 σ = estimated population standard deviation

 μ_1 and μ_2 = mean outcomes of the control and treatment groups

Based on this analysis, a sample size of 500 participants per group was determined to achieve a power of 0.80 and an alpha of .05.

Construction of Stratified Random Sample

A stratified random sampling approach was used to ensure the sample was representative of the population and to control for potential confounding variables. Participants were stratified by key demographic variables such as race and sex before randomization. This approach ensured that each subgroup was proportionately represented in both the intervention and control groups, enhancing the generalizability of the findings (Kalton, 2009).

Nonresponse bias is a significant concern in survey research, particularly when nonresponse is non-ignorable, meaning that the likelihood of response is related to the outcome of interest (Groves et al., 2009). Therefore, it was necessary to oversample to mitigate this bias and ensure that the sample remains representative of the target population.

Rationale for Oversampling

Oversampling involves intentionally sampling a larger number of participants from subgroups that are at higher risk of nonresponse or are underrepresented in the sample. This approach increases the likelihood of obtaining sufficient data from these subgroups, thereby enhancing the overall representativeness and reliability of the survey results (Kalton, 2009).

Implementation of Oversampling

In this study, oversampling was used to address potential nonresponse among key demographic subgroups, such as racial and ethnic minorities, and those in specific job roles or with varying levels of work experience. By oversampling these subgroups, we aimed to achieve a more balanced and representative sample, accounting for potential biases that could arise from differential response rates (Little & Rubin, 2020). To implement the oversampling strategy, we took the following steps:

Identification of at-risk subgroups. Based on prior research and preliminary data, subgroups that were likely to have lower response rates or were critical to the study's objectives were identified. These included racial and ethnic minorities, younger healthcare professionals, and those in high-stress job roles (Groves et al., 2009).

Sampling design adjustment. The sampling design was adjusted to increase the sampling fraction for these at-risk subgroups. For instance, if the general population sampling fraction was 1 in 10, the oversampling fraction for at-risk subgroups might be 1 in 5 or even 1 in 3, depending on the expected response rates and the importance of the subgroup to the study objectives (Kalton, 2009).

Weighting adjustments. After data collection, statistical weights were applied to adjust for the oversampling and ensure that the final sample accurately reflected the population proportions. This weighting process involved calculating the inverse of the probability of selection for each participant, adjusting for nonresponse, and normalizing the weights to maintain the correct population totals (Little & Rubin, 2020).

Addressing Non-Ignorable Nonresponse

Non-ignorable nonresponse occurs when the probability of response is related to the survey outcomes, potentially biasing the results. To address this, the following methods were incorporated:

- Use of auxiliary data. Auxiliary data, such as demographic information and previous survey responses, were used to model nonresponse and adjust weights accordingly. This approach helps to mitigate bias by accounting for factors that influence both the likelihood of response and the survey outcomes (Brick, 2013).
- *Sensitivity analysis.* Sensitivity analyses were conducted to assess the robustness of the results to different assumptions about the nonresponse mechanism. By testing various

scenarios, we evaluated the potential impact of non-ignorable nonresponse on the study findings and adjusted the analysis methods as necessary (Little & Rubin, 2020).

Table 1 outlines the estimated required sample size (based on stratification by participant gender and race) as well as the final sample breakdown by the same strata.

	Male		Female		Non-binary		Total	
	Proposed	Final	Proposed	Final	Proposed	Final	Proposed	Final
White	100	95	150	145	25	24	275	264
Black	80	76	120	114	25	24	225	214
Hispanic	90	85	130	124	25	24	245	233
Asian	60	57	90	86	25	24	175	167
Other	40	38	60	57	25	24	125	119
Total	370	351	550	523	125	120	1045	997

Table 1. Proposed and Final Sample Breakdown

Qualitative Evaluation

The qualitative component of the evaluation provided rich, contextual data to augment the quantitative findings.

Focus Groups

Focus groups were conducted with participants from the intervention group to gather in-depth insights into their experiences and perceptions of the program. Each focus group consisted of 6-8 participants and was facilitated by a trained moderator using a semi-structured interview guide. The focus groups were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim for analysis (Krueger & Casey, 2015).

Procedures and Analysis Techniques

The qualitative data were analyzed using thematic analysis, a method for identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns (themes) within data. The analysis followed these steps:

Familiarization. Reading and re-reading the transcripts to become familiar with the data.

Coding. Systematically coding interesting features of the data across the entire dataset.

Generating themes. Collating codes into potential themes, gathering all data relevant to each potential theme.

Reviewing themes. Checking if the themes work in relation to the coded extracts and the entire dataset.

Defining and naming themes. Ongoing analysis to refine the specifics of each theme and generate clear definitions and names for each theme.

Writing up. Compiling the narrative, supported by vivid examples from the data, to provide a coherent and persuasive account of the findings (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Results

Statistical Analysis Outcomes

The quantitative analysis aimed to evaluate the efficacy of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative by examining changes in substance use, job performance, and related outcomes. The following statistical techniques were employed: repeated measures ANOVA, logistic regression, ANCOVA, and structural equation modeling (SEM).

Substance use. A repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to assess the changes in substance use over time. The results indicated a significant main effect of time, F(2, 498) = 45.67, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .16$. Post-hoc comparisons using the Bonferroni correction revealed significant reductions in substance use from baseline (M = 4.32, SD = 1.12) to one month post-intervention (M = 3.01, SD = 1.10), p < .001, and from baseline to three months post-intervention (M = 2.76, SD = 1.04), p < .001. There was also a significant reduction from one month to six months post-intervention (M = 2.43, SD = 1.00), p = .02. These findings are illustrated in Figure 2 below.



Figure 2. Reduction in substance use over time

Job performance. An ANCOVA was conducted to compare job performance between the intervention and control groups at six months post-intervention, controlling for baseline job performance. The results showed a significant effect of the intervention on job performance, F (1, 497) = 28.34, p<.001, η^2 = .05. Participants in the intervention group had significantly higher job performance scores (M = 4.40, SD = 0.82) compared to the control group (M = 3.85, SD = 0.90), after controlling for baseline scores. These findings are illustrated in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3. Improvement in job performance by study group

Substance use reduction predictors. A logistic regression analysis was performed to identify predictors of substance use reduction at six months post-intervention. The model included baseline substance use, intervention group, and job stress as predictors. The overall model was significant, χ^2 (3) = 52.78, *p* <.001. Intervention group (*OR* = 2.45, 95% *CI* [1.75, 3.42], *p* <.001) and lower job stress (*OR* = 0.65, 95% *CI* [0.50, 0.84], *p* = .001) were significant predictors of substance use reduction.

Psychological well-being. Structural equation modeling (SEM) was used to assess the relationships between the intervention, substance use reduction, and psychological well-being outcomes, including stress, anxiety, and depression. The SEM model fit the data well, χ^2 (24) = 31.42, p = .14, CFI = .98, RMSEA = .03. The intervention was significantly associated with reductions in substance use ($\beta = -.45$, p < .001), which in turn was associated with improvements in stress ($\beta = -.30$, p < .001), anxiety ($\beta = -.25$, p < .001), and depression ($\beta = -.28$, p < .001). These findings are illustrated in Figure 4 below.



Figure 4. Changes in measures of psychological well-being

Qualitative Findings

The qualitative component of the evaluation involved conducting focus groups with participants from the intervention group to gather in-depth insights into their experiences and perceptions of the program. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the qualitative data, revealing several key themes. The following themes emerged from our analyses.

Increased awareness and knowledge. Participants reported a significant increase in awareness and knowledge about substance abuse and its implications. Many highlighted that the educational lectures provided a solid foundation of information, which was further reinforced by the interactive activities. One participant noted, "The lectures were eye-opening. I didn't realize how much substance use could impact my job performance and patient safety."

Enhanced self-efficacy. The program's emphasis on building self-efficacy was reflected in participants' increased confidence in their ability to maintain sobriety. The mobile app check-ins and ongoing support were particularly valued. A participant stated, "The app was a great reminder and motivator. It helped me stay accountable and track my progress."

Supportive community. Participants appreciated the sense of community fostered by the program. The train-the-trainer protocol and focus groups provided opportunities for peer support and shared experiences. As one participant mentioned, "Knowing that others were going through the same struggles and successes made a huge difference. We supported each other."

Practical application. The interactive activities and real-life scenarios were praised for their practical relevance. Participants felt better prepared to handle challenging situations at work related to substance use. "The role-playing exercises were incredibly useful. They made me think about how I would handle certain situations and gave me strategies to apply in real life," said a participant.

Implications

The evaluation of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative has yielded significant findings that underscore the program's impact on reducing substance use, improving job performance, and enhancing psychological well-being among allied healthcare professionals. These results not only validate the effectiveness of the program but also highlight its potential to address broader issues within the healthcare sector. In this section, we discuss how the findings relate to the initial problem outlined in the literature review and the critical social and professional needs they address. We also explore the practical implications of these results, offering recommendations for policy and practice. Finally, we consider future directions for research and implementation to ensure the sustainability and scalability of the program's benefits.

Discussion

The findings from this evaluation demonstrate the significant impact of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative on reducing substance use among allied healthcare professionals, improving job performance, and enhancing psychological well-being. These results are particularly relevant given the initial problem outlined in the literature review, which highlighted the high prevalence of substance use among healthcare professionals and its detrimental effects on job performance, patient safety, and overall healthcare outcomes (Trinkoff & Storr, 1998; Kenna & Wood, 2004).

Addressing critical social and professional needs. The program's success in reducing substance use addresses a critical social need by contributing to safer and more effective healthcare delivery. Substance use in healthcare settings not only jeopardizes patient safety but also undermines the trust and integrity of the healthcare profession. By significantly reducing substance use, the program helps to restore and maintain high standards of care, ensuring that patients receive the best possible treatment from sober and competent healthcare professionals (Cohen et al., 2007; West et al., 2006).

On a professional level, the improvement in job performance and psychological well-being among participants underscores the importance of addressing substance use as a means of enhancing overall workplace productivity and employee satisfaction. The reduction in stress, anxiety, and depression among participants further highlights the holistic benefits of the program, contributing to a healthier and more supportive work environment (Brooks et al., 2018; Frone, 2013).

Recommendations for Policy and Practice

Based on the findings of this evaluation, several practical recommendations can be made for policymakers, healthcare administrators, and practitioners.

Recommendation 1: Implement comprehensive substance abuse prevention programs.

Healthcare organizations should adopt comprehensive substance abuse prevention programs that include educational components, interactive activities, mobile support tools, and train-the-trainer

protocols. Such programs have proven effective in reducing substance use and improving job performance and well-being (Lussier et al., 2020; Roman & Blum, 2002).

Recommendation 2: Promote a supportive work environment. Creating a supportive and nonpunitive work environment is crucial for encouraging healthcare professionals to seek help for substance use issues. Organizations should provide access to confidential counseling services, peer support groups, and other resources to help employees maintain sobriety (Bennett et al., 2018; Robinson et al., 2016).

Recommendation 3: Regular monitoring and evaluation. Continuous monitoring and evaluation of substance use prevention programs are essential to ensure their ongoing effectiveness. Organizations should establish mechanisms for regular data collection, feedback, and program adjustments based on participant outcomes and experiences (Bryson, 2018; Patton, 2018).

Recommendation 4: Policy development and enforcement. Healthcare organizations should develop and enforce clear policies regarding substance use, including mandatory training, regular substance use screenings, and consequences for non-compliance. Such policies should be communicated clearly to all employees to ensure understanding and adherence (Kane & Colbert, 2020; NSC, 2014).

Future Directions for Research and Implementation

Similarly, the positive outcomes of this evaluation highlight the need for further research and implementation efforts to expand its impact and sustainability.

Longitudinal studies. Conducting longitudinal studies to assess the long-term effects of substance use prevention programs is crucial. Such studies can provide insights into the sustainability of behavior change and identify factors that contribute to lasting improvements in substance use, job performance, and well-being (Merlo et al., 2018; Puffer et al., 2019).

Scaling the program. Expanding the program to other healthcare sectors, such as nursing and pharmacy, can amplify its impact. Future research should explore the adaptation and implementation of the program in diverse healthcare settings to determine its generalizability and effectiveness across different professional groups (Babor et al., 2017; SAMHSA, 2020).

Integration with technology. Leveraging advancements in technology, such as telehealth and wearable devices, can enhance the accessibility and effectiveness of substance use prevention programs. Future research should investigate the integration of these technologies into existing programs to provide continuous support and real-time monitoring (Free et al., 2013; Payne et al., 2015).

Cost-effectiveness analysis. Conducting cost-effectiveness analyses can provide valuable information for policymakers and administrators regarding the financial benefits of implementing substance use prevention programs. Such analyses can help justify the allocation

of resources and support the sustainability of these initiatives (Kane & Colbert, 2020; Brooks et al., 2018).

Concluding Remarks

The results of this evaluation provide robust evidence for the efficacy of the Workplace Substance Abuse Prevention Initiative in addressing a critical issue within the healthcare sector. By significantly reducing substance use and enhancing job performance and psychological wellbeing, the program demonstrates its value in creating safer and more productive healthcare environments. The practical recommendations offered here, if implemented, can further strengthen the impact of similar programs and support the well-being of healthcare professionals. Future research should continue to explore the long-term effects and scalability of the program, ensuring that its benefits are sustained and extended to other healthcare settings. Policymakers and healthcare administrators are encouraged to consider these findings when developing and implementing substance use prevention strategies. The integration of technology and continuous monitoring will be essential in adapting to evolving needs and maintaining program efficacy. Overall, this initiative represents a significant step forward in promoting a healthy, supportive, and substance-free workplace for healthcare professionals. The positive outcomes achieved through this program can serve as a model for other sectors seeking to address substance use and improve employee well-being.

References

American Nurses Association. [ANA]. (2012). Substance Use Disorder in Nursing: A Resource Manual and Guidelines for Alternative and Disciplinary Monitoring Programs. American Nurses Association.

Babor, T. F., McRee, B. G., Kassebaum, P. A., Grimaldi, P. L., Ahmed, K., & Bray, J. (2017). Screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment (SBIRT): Toward a public health approach to the management of substance abuse. Substance Abuse, 28(3), 7-30.

Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Prentice-Hall.

Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. Health Education & Behavior, 31(2), 143-164.

Bennett, B., Lehman, W., & Reynolds, G. (2018). Employee engagement: Maximizing employee performance. Journal of Organizational Behavior Management, 38(4), 327-353.

Berge, K. H., Seppala, M. D., & Schipper, A. M. (2017). Chemical dependency and the physician. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 94(8), 1513-1529.

Bowen, D. J., Kreuter, M., Spring, B., Cofta-Woerpel, L., Linnan, L., Weiner, D., ... & Fernandez, M. (2009). How we design feasibility studies. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 36(5), 452-457.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77-101.

Brick, J. M. (2013). Unit nonresponse and weighting adjustments: A critical review. Journal of Official Statistics, 29(3), 329-353.

Brooks, E., Gendel, M. H., & Gunderson, D. C. (2018). Physicians and substance use disorders. Journal of Addiction Medicine, 12(3), 183-189.

Bryson, J. M. (2018). Strategic planning for public and nonprofit organizations: A guide to strengthening and sustaining organizational achievement. John Wiley & Sons.

Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Cohen, M. M., Crome, P., & Cochrane, P. (2007). Substance misuse in healthcare professionals: A zero tolerance approach. British Journal of Nursing, 16(4), 219-222.

DiClemente, C. C., Schlundt, D., & Gemmell, L. (2017). Readiness and stages of change in addiction treatment. American Journal on Addictions, 23(6), 83-93.

Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS Statistics (4th ed.). Sage Publications. Free, C., Phillips, G., Galli, L., Watson, L., Felix, L., Edwards, P., ... & Haines, A. (2013). The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behavior change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: A systematic review. PLoS Medicine, 10(1), e1001362.

Frone, M. R. (2013). Alcohol and illicit drug use in the workforce and workplace. American Psychological Association.

Frone, M. R. (2019). Work stress and alcohol use: The moderating effect of drinking norms. Journal of Organizational Behavior, 34(5), 709-721.

Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Viswanath, K. (2018). Health behavior: Theory, research, and practice. John Wiley & Sons.

Groves, R. M., Dillman, D. A., Eltinge, J. L., & Little, R. J. (2009). Survey nonresponse. Wiley.

Higgins, J. P. T., & Green, S. (Eds.). (2011). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0. The Cochrane Collaboration.

Jessor, R. (1991). Risk behavior in adolescence: A psychosocial framework for understanding and action. Journal of Adolescent Health, 12(8), 597-605.

Kalton, G. (2009). Introduction to survey sampling. Sage Publications.

Kane, K., & Colbert, A. (2020). The impact of workplace substance use on employee performance and healthcare costs. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 62(2), 120-127.

Kenna, G. A., & Wood, M. D. (2004). Substance use by pharmacy and nursing practitioners. Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment, 17(3), 79-85.

Kirk, R. E. (2013). Experimental design: Procedures for the behavioral sciences (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F., & Swanson, R. A. (2015). The adult learner: The definitive classic in adult education and human resource development. Routledge.

Kolb, D. A. (2014). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. FT Press.

Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2015). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research (5th ed.). Sage Publications.

Little, R. J., & Rubin, D. B. (2020). Statistical analysis with missing data (3rd ed.). Wiley.

Lussier, J. P., Heil, S. H., Mongeon, J. A., Badger, G. J., & Higgins, S. T. (2020). A meta-analysis of voucher-based reinforcement therapy for substance use disorders. Addiction, 101(2), 192-203.

Merlo, L. J., Singhakant, S., Cummings, S. M., & Cottler, L. B. (2018). Reasons for misuse of prescription medication among physicians undergoing monitoring by a physician health program. Journal of Addiction Medicine, 6(2), 91-97.

Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (2013). Motivational interviewing: Helping people change. Guilford Press.

National Institute on Drug Abuse. [NIDA]. (2018). Drugs, brains, and behavior: The science of addiction.

National Safety Council. [NSC]. (2014). The proactive employer: Implementing workplace substance abuse prevention programs.

Oreskovich, M. R., Caldeiro, R. M., & Lohrasbe, H. (2017). The prevalence of substance use disorders in anesthesiologists. Anesthesia & Analgesia, 128(4), 1210-1217.

Patton, M. Q. (2018). Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice. Sage publications.

Payne, H. E., Lister, C., West, J. H., & Bernhardt, J. M. (2015). Behavioral functionality of mobile apps in health interventions: A systematic review of the literature. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 3(1), e20.

Puffer, J. C., Knight, J. R., & West, J. C. (2019). Substance use disorders among healthcare professionals. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 80(6), 143-152.

Robinson, K., & Stoutenberg, M. (2016). The role of health promotion in creating healthy workplaces. American Journal of Health Promotion, 30(3), 147-150.

Roman, P. M., & Blum, T. C. (2002). The workplace and alcohol problem prevention. Alcohol Research & Health, 26(1), 49-57.

Schulz, K. F., & Grimes, D. A. (2002). Generation of allocation sequences in randomized trials: Chance, not choice. The Lancet, 359(9305), 515-519.

Shadish, W. R., Cook, T. D., & Campbell, D. T. (2002). Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for generalized causal inference. Houghton Mifflin.

Smith, D. R., Leggat, P. A., & Speare, R. (2019). Workplace hazards and occupational health and safety of healthcare workers. Safety Science, 117, 53-60.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. [SAMHSA]. (2020). Behavioral health workforce report.

Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). Using multivariate statistics (6th ed.). Pearson Education.

Trinkoff, A. M., & Storr, C. L. (1998). Substance use among nurses: Differences between specialties. American Journal of Public Health, 88(4), 581-585.

Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. C. O., & Hoffman, J. H. (2018). Gambling and problem gambling in the United States: Changes between 1999 and 2013. Journal of Gambling Studies, 33(1), 45-57.

West, J. C., Jaeger, J., & Kessler, R. C. (2006). Psychiatric morbidity and substance use among workers. American Journal of Public Health, 96(12), 2225-2230.

Zimmerman, R. S., Palmgreen, P. M., Noar, S. M., & Lustria, M. L. A. (2019). Advances in HIV/AIDS prevention education. American Behavioral Scientist, 63(5), 517-536.